
Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

1 
 

MINUTES OF MECKLENBURG COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA  
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
 
The Board of Commissioners of Mecklenburg County, North Carolina, met in Budget/Public Policy 
Session in Conference Center Room 267 on the 2nd floor of the Charlotte-Mecklenburg 
Government Center located at 600 East Fourth Street, Charlotte, North Carolina at 2:32 p.m. on 
Tuesday, April 9, 2024.  
 
 

ATTENDANCE 
 
 
Present:  Chair George Dunlap, Vice-Chair Mark Jerrell 

and Commissioners Leigh Altman, Patricia “Pat” Cotham, 
Arthur Griffin, Vilma D. Leake, Laura J Meier,   
and Susan Rodriguez-McDowell 
County Manager Dena R. Diorio 
County Attorney Tyrone C. Wade 
Clerk to the Board Kristine M. Smith 
Deputy Clerk to the Board Arlissa Eason 

 
Absent:  Commissioner Elaine Powell 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER  

 
The meeting was called to order by Chair Dunlap, followed by introductions and the Pledge of 
Allegiance to the Flag. 
 
  
24-0183 TEFRA HEARING – NOVANT 
 
Close the public hearing and adopt a resolution entitled: 
  
Motion was made by Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell, seconded by Commissioner Meier, and 
unanimously carried to close the TEFRA public hearing and adopt a resolution entitled:  
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

2 
 

Resolution of the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Mecklenburg, North Carolina, 
approving the issuance in one or more series of the National Finance Authority Revenue Tax 
Exempt Bonds, in an aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $785,000,000 to be issued by 
the National Finance Authority for the benefit of Novant Health, Inc. 
 
Background:  As more fully explained in the attached Resolution the National Finance Authority 
(the "Authority") has been requested to issue the Tax Exempt Bonds and to lend the proceeds 
from the sale thereof to Novant Health, Inc. ("Novant") a North Carolina nonprofit corporation 
and an organization described in Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue code of 1986, as 
amended (the "Code")  in an aggregated principal amount not to exceed $785,000,000 for the 
following purposes: 
  
(1) refund existing indebtedness of Novant, the proceeds of which were used to initially finance a 
portion of the costs of the 2024 Projects (described in the resolution). 
 
(2) pay, or reimburse Novant for paying, a portion of the costs of the 2024 Projects 
 
(3)refund all or a portion of the North Carolina Medical Care Commission's (the "Commission") 
outstanding Health Care Facilities Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds (Novant Health 
Obligated Group) Series 2012A (the "2013A Bonds") 
 
(4) refund all or a portion of the Commission's outstanding Variable Rate Demand Health Care 
Facilities Revenue Bonds (Novant Health Obligated Group) Series 2004A and Series 2004B Bonds 
(together, the "2004 Bonds") and 
 
(5) if desired by Novant, pay certain expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the 
Bonds by the Authority. 
 
 
24-0214 ARTS AND CULTURE PLAN – REORGANIZATION & FUNDING STRATEGY 
 
The Board received as information a reorganization plan for the Arts and Science Council as well 
as a sustainable strategy to fund arts and culture in Mecklenburg County. 
 
Background:  In 2022 a group of community members convened by the City of Charlotte embarked 
on a journey to develop an arts and culture plan. The plan includes a series of priorities, strategies, 
and actions. Among other things, the plan focuses on sustainable funding, public/private 
partnerships, equity, support for individual artists and creatives, and arts education. The Board 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

3 
 

received a comprehensive presentation on the arts and culture plan at its budget retreat in 
January 2024. 
  
The plan was finalized in late 2023 and the focus has turned to implementation. Successful 
implementation is dependent on having sound infrastructure and funding to support the 
strategies included in the plan.  The presentation today is the next step towards realizing the 
vision of the arts and culture plan. 
 
Anthony Perez, Arts & Science Council Board Chair, and County Manager Dena R. Diorio gave the 
presentation. 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

4 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

5 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

6 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

7 
 

 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

8 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

9 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

10 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

11 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

12 
 

 
 
Comments 
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell said she was excited to join forces. She asked about the 
Cultural Vision Plan with the City and if this was the result. Mr. Perez said yes, that they were 
discussing a 5 or 10-year agreement. 
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell asked if the education grants could be used for school 
projects. County Manager Diorio said yes. She said they were for programs within the schools and 
for field trips.  
 
Commissioner Griffin asked how Charlotte planned to become a world-class art city and when 
they would know they had achieved that status. With regard to slide 3, he asked why he should 
delegate his approval authority to appoint governing board members to the Foundation for the 
Carolinas. Regarding slide 4, he asked what the governing structure was for determinations of 
restricted and unrestricted funds coming from all sources. He asked if taxpayers would have 
transparency of funds going into the world-class city they spoke of. He asked how they would 
improve inequity, although they were spending 55% more of the County’s dollars. He asked that 
his colleagues watch the City Council meeting that took place October 23, 2023, when it was 
expressed that the world-class city would be their legacy organization. He asked if it would be 
better long-term for those things. He mentioned structural inequity and said North Carolina 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

13 
 

Agricultural and Technical State University and North Carolina State University were both land 
grant colleges. He asked which school had more. He said he wouldn’t vote on the matter during 
budget time and asked that they ask for at least 75% of whatever they contributed to cultural 
blocks or equity programs, which started it all. 
 
Chair Dunlap said a lot had occurred since Commissioner Griffin’s concerns and mentioned that 
the City had changed its plan and what it would be doing. He said those funds would begin going 
to the Foundation of the Carolinas. 
 
County Manager Diorio said the Arts and Culture plan was available online for viewing. She said 
they would not be delegating their approval authority to the governing board, that they provided 
$3.4 million to the ASC, and that they had two appointees. She said they had less control now of 
how the arts money would get spent than they would going forward because the County would 
have seven appointments. She said they would have much more control over how it would be 
spent. She said the 1% for the art fund would be managed the same way it was managed currently 
by the art program housed in the ASC. She said many organizations didn’t use the facilities in 
Uptown. She said the Arts Plan significantly focused on equity, which had never happened before. 
She said the Arts and Culture Plan wasn’t a thought in 2020/2021; it was a response to the issues 
that Commissioner Griffin cited. She stated the endowment that the ASC had would remain with 
them.  
 
Commissioner Cotham asked if they could elaborate on the Foundation for the Carolinas ratifying 
all board appointees and the process. She asked if they submitted a nominee and if there was a 
way they could not accept that person. Mr. Perez said yes, if it didn’t follow the governing rules, 
they could deny a person. 
 
Commissioner Cotham said she would have liked to see more focus on children. Mr. Perez said 
he believed 40% of their programs impacted children. 
 
Commissioner Leake asked if they could vote on the appointees or if it was left up to the 
Chairman. Mr. Perez said the County would appoint 7, and it would be up to them to decide.  
County Manager Diorio said it would be the same process they use for advisory boards. 
 
Chair Dunlap said some of what was heard wasn’t fully baked, but they were working on it. He 
said equity and inclusion was what the County was most concerned about and would remain in 
place. He clarified how the process would go. 
 
Commissioner Leake asked how it would impact the School of Performing Arts. Mr. Perez said he 
didn’t have the dollar amount of how much they funded but could provide it. He said the funding 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

14 
 

wouldn’t change. He said they hadn’t dived into it any further at that time.  
 
  
24-0162 FY2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN UPDATE 
 
The Board received an update on the FY2029 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). 
 
David Boyd, Chief Financial Officer, gave the presentation.  
 
  

 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

15 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

16 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

17 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

18 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

19 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

20 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

21 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

22 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

23 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

24 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

25 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

26 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

27 
 

 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

28 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

29 
 

 
Comments 
 
Chair Dunlap asked when the Board went through the process the first time, and looking at what 
they had currently, could he have assumed they could add $300 million to the five-year plan. Mr. 
Boyd said it would be $300 million starting in 2029 and going forward.  
 
Chair Dunlap asked follow-up questions concerning the five-year plan. Mr. Boyd further explained 
the intention of the 2025-2029 plan.   
 
Chair Dunlap said part of the concern was that when the request was made based on needs, 
geographical location, etc., it was not presented with the current information. He asked how they 
were supposed to move forward without knowing what they had approved previously. Mr. Boyd 
said they had representatives from all the agencies that submitted projects and said if they 
needed additional information, they could provide it.  
 
Commissioner Meier asked if the 7th and Tryon projects fell through and if they were trying again. 
Mr. Hahn said they were unable to reach an agreement with the developer. Because of this, he 
said a lot of site work and demolition still needed to be done. He said the developer was supposed 
to build the plazas along with other costs, but now the County was responsible for it.  
  
Chair Dunlap asked when the County would recoup those costs since they were incurring the cost 
they anticipated a developer would have paid after the project was developed. Mr. Hahn said 
they would have to look into that.  
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell said it was concerning that they were taking on the $38 
million. She asked about the recommendation to decide not to fund the Sheriff’s office training 
facility again. She asked, with CPCC and the Sheriff working together, if there was anything 
happening with the idea. County Manager Diorio said there had been conversations between 
Sherriff McFadden and Dr. Deitemeyer. 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

30 
 

 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell asked where the $94 million in new requests for the Sheriff’s 
Office Jail North Field Ops, Training Academy, and Firing Range decreased to. County Manager 
Diorio said the CPCC project was fully funded.  
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell asked for clarification if the $94 million was just for the 
training facility. Mr. Boyd said the largest piece of the funding was for the training facility and 
firing range. County Manager Diorio added that they had recently built out the field operations 
for the Sheriff at the Hal Marshall building, where they intend to stay for a period of time.   
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell said she appreciated them adding smaller and more 
frequent school bonds into their talking points.  
 
Commissioner Cotham thanked him for the information. She asked about the overruns—what 
they could have learned from them and what they could have done differently. She also asked if 
it was common and, if so, if he felt he had adequately advised the Board. Mr. Hahn said he felt 
that requesting/requiring a local developer to be teamed with a national developer could have 
been beneficial to avoid the issues that came up.  
 
Commissioner Altman said said they were sensitive to the burden to their residents and asked if, 
in five years, there would be $300 million that had not been committed. Mr. Boyd said it would 
be absent additional taxes and was based on their current assumptions. He said they would look 
at it every year to refine it.  
 
Commissioner Altman asked if they had an excess of $300 million, at what point would they roll 
back some of the taxes, considering other things such as revaluation. Mr. Boyd clarified they 
didn’t have $300 million sitting out there unspoken for in 2029. He said that would have been if 
they didn’t invest anything into capital. He said the tax increases they have projected going 
forward roll forward to create the $300 million in capacity to add those projects in that year. 
 
Commissioner Griffin asked, concerning the projected renovations for the Kuralt Centre, if they 
intended to operate in that facility over the next 20 to 25 years. Mr. Hahn, yes, said it would be 
an entire gut and redo of the building, hence why they needed to move out of it. He said that after 
the renovations, it would stay active for another 20 to 40 years.  
 
Commissioner Griffin asked if they were working with the City’s people as they discussed transit. 
County Manager Diorio said that with the transit tax, whenever the City or CATS built a new transit 
line, they built a parking lot to go along with it. She said the County wouldn’t be building parking 
lots with transit. Mr. Hahn added they provided the needed parking at their facilities.   



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

31 
 

 
Chair Dunlap asked how the City and County could work together to reduce the taxes of 
Mecklenburg County citizens. He asked if they could go half and half with building the community 
resource center parking lots.  
 
Vice Chair Jerrell said there was a disconnect in the execution of their work together. He asked 
to be walked through slide 10 and its implications. Mr. Boyd provided further clarification of the 
slide.   
 
Commissioner Leake mentioned the Southwest Community Resource Center not being started 
until 2027 and thought each region would have its own resource center. She asked what the 
problem was. Mr. Hahn said that was correct and that they would be done about three or so years 
apart. He stated the next one, after the Ella B. Scarborough, would be on the east side of town off 
Sharon Amity Road, with the Southwest following three to four years later. He said everything 
was still going according to plan. 
 
Commissioner Leake asked if the designs would be repeated. Mr. Hahn said each design would 
be specific to each site.  
 
Commissioner Leake asked about the Nations Ford Road Community Library and how close the 
one they were moving on West Boulevard were to one another. Mr. Hahn said they were far 
apart.  
 
Commissioner Leake asked if they could use the funds from the Charlotte-Mecklenburg School 
System (CMS) moving out of the Government Center in another way.  County Manager Diorio 
said they would be definitely moving and had just purchased their new building. She said that 
floor was the County’s and was sublet to CMS.  Mr. Hahn said they had maxed out on space in the 
Government Center, which could relieve long-term planning.  
 
 
 24-0163 CITIZEN’S CAPITAL BUDGET ADVISORY COMMITTEE-FY2029 CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 
The Board received as information the Citizen's Capital Budget Advisory Committee’s (CCBAC) 
review and recommendations for FY2029 Capital Improvement Projects. 
 
Steven Hyland, Vice Chair, gave the presentation.  
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

32 
 

 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

33 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

34 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

35 
 

 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

36 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

37 
 

 
 
Comments 
 
Vice Chair Jerrell asked about the CCBAC’s first recommendation for Park and Rec and what the 
conversation was about several of the projects being noted as priority communities located in 
gentrified areas. Mr. Hyland said it was initially an observation, and they didn’t know if it was in 
the area, adjacent to it, or nearby.  
 
Vice Chair Jerrell asked what the response was from staff and what action was taken, if any.  
Regarding their observation of CMS, he asked what their response was to the $150 million being 
sufficient and if any additional information about Tier 1 could be substituted. Mr. Hyland said the 
information had come out about seven days before the meeting, so they hadn’t had time to ask 
Mr. Boyd or other stakeholders yet. He said he did not have the information for them at the 
moment. 
 
Mr. Boyd said he could give them a map of all the projects. Regarding CMS, he said they were 
trying to reach a minimum amount they could set aside of constrained certainty that everyone 
could work from. 
 
Vice Chair Jerrell asked if anticipated population growth and deferred maintenance costs were 
essentially setting a baseline. Mr. Boyd said yes, that was correct.  



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

38 
 

Commissioner Meier thanked them for the presentation. She asked who was on their board 
and what their professions were. She also asked about the board's history. Mr. Hyland said they 
were a committee of seven. He said they consisted of an attorney, an architect, a first 
responder, a grant writer, and small business owners, and he was in financial services. He stated 
they were a diverse group. 
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell stated she appreciated their observations. She said they 
had to establish a relationship with the CCBAC to determine what was critical so they could 
share how they looked at things. She said it was important that the Board had their input.  
 
Commissioner Griffin mentioned slide 8 and anticipated population growth. He said he was 
interested to see how they came up with the notion of new builds to support the growth in the 
future.  
 
Commissioner Altman said she was grateful and confident that staff would get them whatever 
they needed to feel supported. She thought it would be good for them to attend certain 
meetings throughout the year, such as the Budget Retreat, State of the County Address, and 
the Budget Presentation.  
 
Commissioner Leake thanked them. She said she was glad they came with recommendations 
through a different lens than the Board’s since they were not trained in building.  
 
Chair Dunlap asked about projects in gentrified areas. He asked if there was concern about not 
enough emphasis or too much. Mr. Hyland said it was a question of equity, and it was 
mentioned that if some of the projects were approved, would they address the issue of equity, 
as areas of Charlotte were rapidly changing.  
 
Chair Dunlap asked what accountability measures they had to ensure that the money for CMS 
funding was used as effectively as possible. Mr. Boyd said they pay their capital bills with the 
proceeds of the bonds they issued. County Manager Diorio said they didn’t give them cash, so 
they knew how they spent it. 
 
 
24-0197 BROOKLYN VILLAGE REDEVELOPMENT UPDATE 
 
The Board received as information an update on the Brooklyn Village Master Redevelopment 
Agreement. 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

39 
 

Background:  The Brooklyn Village Master Redevelopment Agreement between the County and 
BK Partners, LLC governs the phased disposition of County-owned property in the Second Ward 
neighborhood of Uptown Charlotte.  Phase I of the project (the former Walton Plaza site - 
Brooklyn Village South) was conveyed to BK Partners in July 2023.  Following the conveyance, BK 
Partners commenced with demolition and horizontal site improvements.  This presentation will 
provide an overview of BK Partner's Phase I activities to date. 
 
Jacqueline McNeil, Real Estate Management Director, gave the presentation. 
 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

40 
 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

41 
 

 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

42 
 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

43 
 

 
 
Motion was made by Vice Chair Jerrell, seconded by Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell, and 
carried (6-2), with Commissioners Cotham and Leake voting no to extend the meeting an 
additional 30 minutes after 5:00 p.m.   
 
Comments 
 
Commissioner Meier thanked her for the presentation and asked who required that 10% of the 
units be affordable. Ms. McNeil said it was between the County and the developer during 
negotiations passed by the Board in July 2018. 
 
Commissioner Meier asked if they could require developers to have a certain percentage of 
affordable housing. County Manager Diorio said it was negotiated, so they could have declined, 
but they agreed to do affordable housing based on the County’s request. 
 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

44 
 

Vice Chair Jerrell thanked her. He asked when a developer sold parcels, were the people they 
sold to still under the negotiated requirements. Ms. McNeil said it was normal to develop in a 
phased approach. She said they were still required to meet the obligation requirements of the 
Master Agreement (MRA), and BK partners were responsible for ensuring they were met.  
 
Vice Chair Jerrell asked if when the development team had to come back and make changes due 
to economic conditions, did the suggestions come back before the Board for approval or was 
agreed upon by staff. Ms. McNeil said it is agreed upon at the staff level, and the agreement had 
flexibility built into it for the economic climate.  
 
Vice Chair Jerrell said Phase One was the residential piece of the agreement and asked about the 
AMI mix. Ms. McNeil said it was up to 80% AMI, with 30% of the units having to be up to 60% 
AMI.  
 
Commissioner Cotham asked for exact numbers, she said the biggest need was at 30%.  Ms. 
McNeil said there would be units at 30% and they must have at least 35% at that level.  
 
Commissioner Griffin asked if the 30% was only senior housing or in addition to non-senior 
housing. Ms. McNeil said the 30% had to be up to 60% AMI, while the remaining units were 
between 61% and 80% AMI or seniors at 30% AMI. She said there couldn’t be over 60 senior units. 
She said the intent was to make sure the affordable units were available to a broad spectrum of 
the population.  
  
Commissioner Griffin asked if Minority and Women-owned Business Enterprise (MWBE) started 
the grading after July 2023 or when they started building the apartments. He also asked when 
the County would get its first report on MWBE. Ms. McNeil said the developer committed to 
giving data on MWBE on the project's entire life cycle and was currently working with the BDI 
Division of Economic Development. She said they just had to have additional conversations before 
they were comfortable presenting the information to the Board. 
 
Chair Dunlap clarified that the 35% was the total of the overall project.   
 
Commissioner Griffin asked when the total project would be completed. Ms. McNeil said they 
hadn’t gotten to Phase 2 and 3, and the information was only for Phase 1. She said the next phase 
was expected in about five to eight years.  
 
Chair Dunlap said they could make changes based on market changes. He asked what market 
changes occurred to justify a smaller hotel. Ms. McNeil said, according to the developer, they’d 
seen a downtick in offices; she said they had discussions about the hotel market in Charlotte, 



Meeting Minutes 
April 9, 2024 
 

45 
 

believing it was pretty much saturated for hotel rooms in the area. She said there still were plans 
for a hotel.  
 
Chair Dunlap asked how they verified whether they agreed with their assessments.  Ms. McNeil 
said they had a disciplinary group that looked at the agreement daily to ensure they met their 
obligations. She said they also talked to individuals in the industry separate from the development 
team to gauge what was going on in the market. She said they would continue to monitor and 
have in-depth conversations about the hotel parcel.  
 
 
 
24-0213  COMMISSIONER REPORTS 
 
Commissioners shared information of their choosing within the guidelines as established by the 
Board, which included, but not limited to, past and/or upcoming events. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
With no further business to come before the Board, Chair Dunlap declared the meeting 
adjourned at 5:07 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ ____________________________ 
Arlissa Eason, Deputy Clerk to the Board                                             George Dunlap, Chair 
 
 


	MINUTES OF MECKLENBURG COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA
	ATTENDANCE


